IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI  
NO. 2009-KA-00327-SCT

IVAN RUSSELL McCLELLAN

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS  
George T. Holmes, MSB No. [REDACTED]  
301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210  
Jackson MS 39201  
601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI  
NO. 2009-KA-00327-SCT

IVAN RUSSELL McCLELLAN

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

**CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

- ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER McCLELLAN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUSTAINED?
- ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE VERDICT IS SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE?
- ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ALLOWED IMPROPER IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE?
- ISSUE NO. 4: WHETHER MERGER PROHIBITED PROSECUTION FOR BOTH POSSESSION OF PRECURSOR AND POSSESSION OF 250 DOSAGE UNITS OF EPHEDRINE?

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi where Ivan Russell McClellan was convicted of possession of having at least two methamphetamine precursors and possession of more than 250 dosage units of pseudoephedrine or ephedrine, under MCA §41-29-313 (1)(a) and 2(c)(I) (Rev. 2005). A jury trial was conducted February 19-20, 2009, with Honorable James T. Kitchens, Circuit Judge, presiding. McClellan was sentenced as an habitual offender under MCA §99-19-81 (1972) to thirty (30) years on the precursor charge and five (5) years, concurrent, on the possession charge and is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

## FACTS

Narcotics officers responded to Fred's Dollar Store on 18th Avenue in Columbus December 5, 2007 around 2:00 p. m.[T. 79]. There was a call regarding a white male and female leaving Fred's after allegedly purchasing "numerous boxes of pseudoephedrine" a necessary ingredient in the illegal manufacture of methamphetamine. [T. 80, 127]. Fred's personnel had been instructed to call police if large quantities of products containing pseudoephedrine or ephedrine were ever purchased by anyone. *Id.* At trial one of the officers described a large quantity as more than two boxes. [T. 81].

In this case, the white man and woman had allegedly purchased four (4) boxes of over the counter medications containing pseudoephedrine or ephedrine each for a total of eight (8) boxes. *Id.* The store workers purportedly were able to give police a suspected identity of the couple purchases as Ivan Russell McClellan and Katina Langford McGee due to identification requirements for pseudoephedrine. [T. 83].

The couple were described by Fred's personnel as driving off in "a blue older model vehicle," subsequently deduced by police to be a Ford Mustang spotted nearby with an Alabama tag. [T. 81-82, 84, 127, 130-31]. Some officers went directly to Fred's, others searched the area looking for the blue vehicle. [T. 82].

The blue Mustang was spotted at a convenience store called the Dutch Village near the intersection of Highway 12 and 82. [T. 82]. Officers were notified and surveillance of the vehicle was set up. [T. 84-86].



The occupants of the car were Ivan McClellan and Katina McGee. McClellan did not enter the Dutch Village, only Katina. [T. 129, 176]. After Katina got back in the car and the couple drove off, officers went in the convenience store and were allegedly informed that Katina had purchased a pseudoephedrine/ephedrine product. [T. 86, 88, 177]. After leaving the Dutch Village the couple reportedly went to a Dollar General Store from which no purchases were made. [T. 86-88].

The Mustang left the Dollar General Store and proceeded on through town. [T. 89]. The officers decided to stop the Mustang on Highway 182, Ivan McClellan was driving, Katina McGee was passenger. [T. 89-91]. The officers allegedly obtained consent to search the Mustang, which belonged to Ivan McClellan, and allegedly discovered 308 pills containing pseudoephedrine/ephedrine, three cans of engine starting spray (ethyl ether, hexanes, and heptanes) and three containers of granular drain opener (ammonium nitrate), a bottle of isopropyl alcohol, and a package of lithium batteries. [T. 91-100, 109-10, 157, 187-88]. Samples were sent to the crime lab and tested to be as suspected. [T. 100-03, 154]. The items were described as being used together in the manufacture of illicit methamphetamine. [T. 156-64 ].

McClellan and McGee were arrested and charged with possession of two or more precursors of methamphetamine with intent to manufacture. [T. 100]. The next morning, December 6, 2009, the subjects were questioned. [T. 109-10]. After allegedly being advised of his rights under *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U. S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602 (1966),

McClellan reportedly gave a consensual statement admitting that he was going to take the items which were seized from the Mustang and "make methamphetamine." [T. 112-18, 123, 125-27]. McClellan also was reported as saying that McGee "was helping him." *Id.*

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The police lacked probable cause or reasonable suspicion to stop McClellan, so, the subsequent search of his vehicle, arrest and purported statement were fruit of the poisonous tree and inadmissible at trial. The verdict was contrary to the weight of evidence. The trial court's ruling on impeachment evidence prevented the defendant from presenting a defense. The two charges in this case merge, so there should not have been two convictions.

### ARGUMENT

✓ ISSUE NO. 1: [REDACTED]  
[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]  
[REDACTED] [T. 92, 94, 97, 104-06]. [REDACTED]  
[REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]  
[REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]  
[REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

~~investigatory stop~~. [T. 124-25].

### *Standard of Review*

Under this issue there is a mixed standard of review. *Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs*, 749 So.2d 110, 113(¶ 11) (Miss.1999). For reasonable suspicion or probable cause to make the vehicle stop, the review is *de novo*. *Id.* The trial court's factual findings made in support of its legal conclusions are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. *Id.* Otherwise, evidentiary rulings are reviewed on a standard of abuse of discretion and any resulting prejudice. *Id.* See also, *Dies v. State*, 926 So. 2d 910, 917 (¶ 20) (Miss. 2006).

### *Automobile Stops in General*

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 3, § 23 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 secure an individual's right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. *Floyd* 749 So.2d at 114 (¶ 14). The purpose of the "Fourth Amendment is to 'shield the citizen from unwarranted intrusions into his privacy.' " *Jones v. United States*, 357 U.S. 493, 499, 78 S.Ct. 1253 (1958). The Fourth Amendment is incorporated to states through the Fourteenth Amendment. *U. S. v. Grant*, 349 F.3d 192, 196 (5th Cir.2003).

Except for a few specifically established exceptions, warrantless searches are per se unreasonable. *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357, 88 S.Ct. 507 (1967).

Contraband that is discovered during an unreasonable, illegal, search may not be admitted

into evidence at a subsequent trial. *Carney v. State*, 525 So.2d 776, 785 (Miss.1988), *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 30, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968). There is a rule of strict construction of search and seizure provisions in favor of the individual and against the state. *Barker v. State*, 241 So. 2d 355, 358 (Miss. 1970).

Due to impracticalities, an exception to the warrant requirement is provided for routine traffic stops which are treated as non-custodial investigatory stops under *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 20, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968). Traffic stops are seizures for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment. *Couldery v. State*, 890 So.2d 959, 962 (¶ 8) (Miss. Ct. App.2004), *United States v. Lopez-Moreno*, 420 F.3d 420, 430 (5th Cir. 2005).

Legal justification for investigative stops is reviewed on a case by case basis. *Singletary v. State*, 318 So.2d 873, 877 (Miss. 1975). The determining factor is reasonableness, and the United States Supreme Court has stated that, as a general rule, “the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation [or other crime] has occurred.” *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 810, 116 S.Ct. 1769, 1772, 135 L.Ed.2d 89 (1996).

As stated in *Floyd, supra*, “given reasonable circumstances an officer may stop and detain a person to resolve an ambiguous situation without having sufficient knowledge to justify an arrest.” 749 So.2d at 114 (¶16). Citing *Singletary v. State*, 318 So.2d 873, 876 (Miss.1975). See also *McCray v. State*, 486 So.2d 1247, 1249 (Miss.1986) and *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968).

However, the state's interest in investigating possible criminal conduct based on an officer's reasonable suspicion may, nevertheless, be outweighed by the Fourth Amendment interest of the in remaining free from the governmental intrusion. *Delaware v. Prouse*, 440 U.S. 648, 654-55, 99 S.Ct. 1391, 59 L.Ed.2d 660 (1979).

Under *Terry* there is a two-tiered "reasonable suspicion" inquiry under which a deciding court asks whether a officer's conduct was (1) justified at its inception; and (2) whether the search and seizure were reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which initially justified the stop. *Floyd*, 749 So.2d at 114 (¶17), *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 20, 88 S.Ct. 1868.

Under the automobile exception police may conduct a warrantless search of an automobile and any containers therein if they have probable cause to believe that it contains contraband or evidence of crime, or valid consent. *California v. Acevedo*, 500 U.S. 565, 576, 111 S.Ct. 1982, 114 L.Ed.2d 619 (1991), *Millsap v. State*, 767 So.2d 286, 292 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

For the present case it is pertinent that "[r]easonable cause for an investigatory stop may be based on an officer's personal observation or on an informant's tip if it bears indicia of reliability." *Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs*, 749 So.2d 110, 118 (Miss.1999). "Reasonable suspicion is dependent upon the content of the information possessed by the detaining officer as well as its degree of reliability" to be considered with other factors under the 'totality of the circumstances.'" *Id.*, see also *Williamson v. State*, 876 So.2d

353, 355 (Miss.2004).

*Discussion*

~~The initial question is whether there was enough probable cause to stop the blue Mustang?~~ No police officer in this case saw any felony or misdemeanor being committed. The stop was based on a vague description from Fred's and the officers merely following the blue Mustang to a store. The identification of the blue Mustang did not come from Fred's personnel, but from another police officer. [T. 130-31].

In ~~992 So.2d~~ 992 So.2d 191, 193-95, (¶¶4-5, 11) (Miss. 2004), the defendant was stopped by Horn Lake police when a clerk from a Walgreens store notified authorities that Burchfield and another person had just purchased a large quantity of a product containing ephedrine and were "leaving the parking lot in a silver Cadillac with Arkansas license plates, traveling westbound on Goodman Road from Highway 51." *Id.* An officer who heard the call went straight to Goodman Road, spotted the Cadillac and initiated a traffic stop. Burchfield was the passenger. *Id.* When speaking with the driver, the officer noticed in plain view a "Walgreens bag on the back seat containing two boxes of ephedrine." When the officer requested, and received, permission to search the vehicle, he found two different bags with 864 unit dosages (pills) of ephedrine, one of the bags was in the trunk. *Id.* ~~Burchfield argued, unsuccessfully, that the police did not have sufficient probable cause to make the stop and search the vehicle.~~ *Id.* ~~Burchfield's~~

~~argument failed because the good description from the store was reliable and was~~

~~informed by the officer's plain view observations at the stop.~~ *Id.*

distinguished case

The difference between *Burchfield* and the present facts is that the Fred's clerks here did not give a detailed description of a particular automobile model nor any information about the license plate, or the direction of travel, and, when the stop was made, there was nothing in plain view to reinforce any suspicion the officers had of possible illegal activity. [T. 89-91, 136]. These factors, which are missing from the present case, were the basis of the *Burchfield* court's finding that the stop in that case and subsequent search were valid. *Burchfield*, 992 So.2d 195 (¶11).

The same can be said for two other similar cases, both of which had very good descriptions of the suspected perpetrators and vehicles. In ~~\_\_\_\_\_~~ 881 So.2d 820, 823 (Miss. 2004), store clerks called and notified police of a large ephedrine product purchase, and, ~~although no particular vehicle description was provided police, the store clerk gave a very good physical description of the defendant who spotted in the store parking lot and subsequently arrested.~~ *Id.* Incidentally, ~~the vehicle Walker was in did not have~~ ~~working lights, which formed a basis for the stop in that case as well.~~ 881 So. 2d at 825-26.

In ~~\_\_\_\_\_~~, 876 So.2d 353, 354 (¶¶3-4) (Miss. 2004), Waynesboro police received an anonymous tip that "~~\_\_\_\_\_~~" had purchased "~~large quantities~~" of an ephedrine product and had attempted purchases at another store, and had ~~1. On the last page, "\_\_\_\_\_," ... headed west on~~

~~Highway 84.~~ Police proceeded to Highway 84, spotted a white van in the parking lot of Fred's Dollar Store. *Id.* The officer "verified that the white van had two white males inside, and the tag number matched the number provided to the police." *Id.* In the present case, however, the only information the officers had was a white couple in "a blue older model vehicle." [T. 81-82]. *[The police also had their names & followed them to a convenience store where they purchased more pseudo...]*

Under the totality of the circumstances here, with such a vague description and officers not seeing an offense being committed, the officers lacked probable cause and reasonable suspicion to effectuate an investigative stop. To put it another way, ~~the information from the Fred's personnel labeled "indication of reliability" and there were no confirming observations.~~ *Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs*, 749 So.2d 110, 118 (Miss.1999). ~~Without a reasonable basis for the stop, this case is governed by provisions in which the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals "have ruled that actions which do not constitute a criminal offense are not subject to law enforcement, and, therefore, the stops are illegal."~~ ~~377 So.2d 435 (Miss.1973);~~ *Couldery v. State*, 890 So.2d 959 (Miss. Ct. App.2004).

In *Couldery*, the officer initiated a traffic stop for driving in the left-hand lane on the interstate. After reviewing the statutory offenses the officer put forth as the basis for the citation, the Court concluded that the actions of the driver did not constitute a criminal offense, that driving in the left-hand lane on the interstate was not illegal. Therefore, the officer's misapprehension of the law precluded the stop from being valid. *Couldery*, 890



So.2d at 967.

In the present case, it follows that the alleged pseudoephedrine/ephedrine products, the alleged precursors, and McClellan's subsequently purported admissions in this case are all fruit of a search incident to an illegal stop in violation of the Fourth Amendment, and *Couldery*, 890 So.2d at 967, and *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 485-86, 83 S.Ct. 407, 416, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963).

\* ~~Conerly Confession~~ \*

In *Conerly v. State*, 760 So.2d 737, 741-42 (Miss. 2000), the defendant claimed his confession was the fruit of an illegal arrest, even though he was *Mirandized*. The *Conerly* court recognized that in Mississippi, "*Miranda* warnings, alone and per se, do not always make a confession admissible... [contrarily] a confession given while in custody following an illegal arrest is not per se inadmissible." (§ 11, citations omitted). Rather, "a confession's admissibility must be decided on the facts of each case." *Id.* [Citations omitted]

The *Conerly* court pointed out that, in  422 U.S. 590, 95 S.Ct. 2254, 45 L.Ed.2d 416 (1975), ~~the United States Supreme Court established a five-part test~~  
~~"First, the giving of the Miranda warnings and the circumstances are~~  
~~considered. The quicker a "confession" comes the more likely it is the product of the~~  
~~"coercive impact of incarceration." Conerly, 760 So.2d 741 (§12). See Hall v. State, 427~~

So.2d 957, 959 (Miss.1983). Here, McClellan's so-called confession came within less than 24 hours after his arrest. It should be noted that McClellan, who cannot read, was questioned in the more coercive county jail rather than the police department. [T. 111, 117-18, 139]. This would have heightened McClellan's discomfort.

Secondly, the temporal proximity of the arrest and the confession are considered. Here as shown, McClellan's statement came very quickly before he could become acclimated to incarceration. Moreover, the questioning apparently took place prior to McClellan having an initial appearance before a neutral magistrate. See, e. g., *Abram v. State*, 606 So.2d 1015, 1029 (Miss.1992).

Thirdly, there should be a determination of intervening circumstances, which there are none on the record here. Fourthly, the purpose and flagrancy of any official misconduct; and fifthly, any other relevant circumstances are reviewed. There is no indication of misconduct in the record, other than taking advantage of coercive surroundings.

Nevertheless, application of the *Brown v. Illinois* five part test suggests that with the illegal arrest and his questioning in the jail under coercive circumstances, McClellan's statement should have been suppressed as well as fruit of the illegal arrest notwithstanding the *Miranda* warnings.

A new trial is respectfully requested.

✓ ISSUE NO. 2:

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

The state's evidence included testimony that someone bought ephedrine from Freds in Columbus while using the identification of Ivan McClellan and Katina McGee. [T. 128-29]. The Fred's purchase was not shown to put McClellan in possession of 250 dosage units of ephedrine product. Also, at the Dutch Village store, only Katina McGee's made a purchase of ephedrine. [T. 129]. The police never did a photographic line-up with the store clerks to see if the persons purchasing the cold remedies matched either defendant. [T. 133]. The identification of the blue Mustang did not come from Fred's personnel, but from a police officer. [T. 130-31].

The box of medication in Exhibit 7 and the rubbing alcohol, Exhibit 6, were found in a closed suitcase, belonging to Katina. [T. 99, 135-36]. Nothing illegal was found in McClellan's suitcase. [T. 137-38]. One package of pills was concealed in the car's console or gear shift area, and everything else was in the back seat, out of McClellan's

area of control. [T. 135-38.]. No fingerprint evidence was collected. *Id.* There was no investigation of who purchased the engine starter spray or the lithium batteries either. *Id.*

In the present case, all told, only 212 dosage units, less than 250, were found in the console area of McClellan's Mustang. [T. 95-96, 136]. Police found 96 units in Katina's luggage. [T. 99].

It was already shown that McClellan's so-called confession is unreliable. McClellan could not read very well and had to rely on what the questioning officers told him his typed statement contained. [T. 139-40]. Without McClellan's alleged admissions, there was no proof of any intent nor ability to make methamphetamine. From the state's testimony, what was missing for the necessary chemical reactions was, white gasoline (Coleman® fuel), sodium hydroxide and hydrochloride gas (sulphuric acid and table salt). [T. 159, 60, 173-74].

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

Legal proof of possession requires, "sufficient facts to warrant a finding that the defendant was aware of the particular substance and was intentionally and consciously in possession of it." *Hamm v. State*, 735 So. 2d 1025, 1028 (Miss. 1999). "Constructive possession may be shown by establishing that the drug involved was subject to his dominion or control. Proximity is usually an essential element, but by itself is not adequate in the absence of other circumstances." *Id.*

If actual physical possession is not established, the State can attempt to prove constructive possession. ~~\_\_\_\_\_~~, 971 So.2d 581, 587(¶ 16) (Miss.2007).

~~"Constructive possession is established by showing that the defendant had knowledge of the presence of the controlled substance and the dominion and control of the defendant."~~ *Id.* "[T]here must be sufficient facts to warrant a finding that the defendant ~~was aware of the presence and character of the particular~~

~~[controlled substance]~~ and was intentionally and consciously in possession of it." *Id.* In ~~\_\_\_\_\_~~ \*

\* ~~\_\_\_\_\_~~ 718 So.2d 1107, 1111(¶ 13) (Miss.1998), ~~the court originally held that "\_\_\_\_\_"~~

~~which was a constructive possession of controlled substance in that~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_~~ [Was he the actual owner of the blue Mustang?]

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