IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

IVAN RUSSELL MCCLELLAN

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0327-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly denied McClellan's motion to suppress because the officers had reasonable suspicion grounded in specific and articulable facts that McClellan was engaged in criminal activity.

McClellan's convictions are entirely supported by the evidence. Based on the evidence presented, including McClellan's lawfully obtained confession, the jury could have found him guilty as an accomplice or under the theory of constructive possession.

The State presented no evidence to impeach McClellan, as he chose to not testify. Additionally, McClellan also failed to proffer his testimony. Where a criminal defendant chooses not to testify after the trial court rules that the defendant's prior convictions may be used as impeachment evidence, the defendant is procedurally barred from arguing on appeal that the ruling prevented him from putting on a defense if he fails to proffer his testimony.

The offenses for which McClellan was convicted are not subject to the merger doctrine because neither offense is a lesser offense of the other. Simply because McClellan was prosecuted for more than one statutory offense arising out of a basic set of facts does not mean that the offenses for which he was convicted are subject to the merger doctrine.

ARGUMENT

I.

McClellan claims that the officers lacked reasonable suspicion for the investigatory stop because the initial description of the suspect vehicle relayed by dispatch was vague. Although the initial description from dispatch may have been vague, the officers were provided with much more detail about the pseudoephedrine purchases, the identities of the purchasers, and a detailed description of their vehicle before making a stop. T. 83,180. T. 84, 131, 180. The Fred's employee also advised that he called the other two Fred's stores in Columbus and discovered that McClellan and McGee had also purchased pseudoephedrine from those stores that very day. T. 131-33. After Agent Hawkins relayed the information gathered from the Fred's employee to Officer Pevey, Officer Pevey spotted what he believed was McClellan's vehicle in yet another pharmacy parking lot. T. 84. Rather than making the investigatory stop at that point, the officers waited for McClellan to drive off, so Agent Hawkins could go in and inquire as to the couple's purchase. T. 88, 177. At this point, the officers determined that they had enough information to conduct an investigatory stop.

A police officer may conduct an investigatory stop if the officer has "reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific and articulable facts, that a person they encounter was involved in or is wanted

in connection with a completed felony or some objective manifestation that the person stopped is, or is about to be engaged in criminal activity." Williamson v. State, 876 So.2d 353, 355 (¶12) (Miss. 2004) (quoting Floyd v. State, 500 So.2d 989, 992 (Miss. 1986)). Reasonable suspicion may be based on the officer's personal observations, or an informant's tip, so long as the tip bears indicia of reliability. Id. at (¶11) (citing Floyd v. City of Crystal Springs, 749 So.2d 110, 118 (Miss.1999)). In Williamson, Officer Overstreet received a tip from a pharmacy employee that two white males had purchased a large quantity of pseudoephedrine from a particular store. *Id.* at 354 (¶2). The tipster also advised that the two white males left the store in a white van, and gave the license plate number and direction in which the van was traveling. Id. Officer Overstreet located the van, followed it to Fred's Dollar Store, and obtained consent to search the van. Id. at (¶4-6). This Court concluded that the information provided by the pharmacy employee, "the color of the van, the number and race of occupants, the license plate number and the direction of travel, including the name of the street" provided a sufficient basis for Officer Overstreet's reasonable suspicion to stop the vehicle. *Id.* at 356 (¶¶13-16). In the present case, Officer Pevey was provided with much more detail. tremunstrate charter grant medigenting and mentachine release had the maker made land go to profette alialam atadahantalahan mangum deprosidu dalambiran bantanah telah sati dan diserciti dan antan sati baga. The tipster in the present case did better than describe the race and gender of the suspects by providing their race, gender and names. Additionally, the officers in the present case knew that McClellan had made large purchases of pseudoephedrine from at least four pharmacies that day. Considering the totality of the circumstances, it is clear that the officers had reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific and articulable facts, to believe that McClellan was engaging in felonious activity.

McClellan also claims that his confession should have been suppressed because it was the

result of an illegal arrest. However, as shown, the officers had reasonable suspicion to conduct the investigatory stop. The permissible stop was followed by McClellan's consent to search the vehicle and his lawful arrest. Because no illegal arrest occurred, there is no reason to conduct the test enunciated in *Brown v. Illinois* to determine the admissibility of McClellan's confession.

II.

McClellan's second assignment of error is that the verdicts were against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Reviewing courts examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict in determining whether a verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005) (citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)). Additionally, a reviewing court will not disturb a verdict based on a claim that a conviction is against the weight of the evidence, unless allowing the verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Id.* While acknowledging that two or more methamphetamine precursors and more than 250 dosage units of pseudoephedrine were discovered in his vehicle during a consensual search, McClellan claims that the State failed to prove that he actually or constructively possessed said contraband. For the following reasons, McClellan's second assignment of error is without merit.

Before embarking on a discussion of constructive possession, the State would first note that the jury was properly instructed on accomplice liability. C.P. 30. It is well settled that one who is present and aids, assists, or encourages a principle in the commission of a crime is likewise guilty as a principle. *Vaughn v. State*, 712 So. 2d 721, 724 (¶11) (Miss. 1998); *Hooker v. State*, 716 So. 2d 1104, 1110 (¶19) (Miss. 1998). The evidence showed, at a minimum, that McClellan and McGee purchased pseudoephedrine from three Fred's Dollar Stores and Dutch Village Family

Pharmacy in a single day, several precursors were discovered in McClellan's car, and McClellan confessed that he was going to "cook" meth with the seized precursors which McGee helped him obtain. T. 83-84, 89, 91-99,126, 131-33, Exhibit 12. In Grant v. State, Grant, the owner of the searched vehicle, claimed that she was unaware that her passenger/boyfriend was in possession of a large amount of marijuana. 788 So. 2d 815 (Miss. 2001). The contraband was found in the passenger's luggage which was located in the trunk. Id. at 817 (¶2). On appeal, Grant claimed that State failed to present legally sufficient evidence to support her conviction for possession of a controlled substance. This honorable Court found that Grant's statement to police in which she acknowledged that she was aware of her passenger's possession of marijuana and the passenger's intent to sell the marijuana to help fund their travels sufficiently showed that Grant was guilty under a theory of accomplice liability. Id. at 817-818 (96). Similarly, in the present case, McClellan's defense was an attempt to shift responsibility of the possession of precursors to his passenger, T. 236, 239, 241. The Grant McGlablants delicated by his continued to the state of the same forms and the state of the same State's evidence supports the jury's finding that McClellan was, at a minimum, guilty as an aider and abettor of possession of precursors.

Addressing McClellan's specific argument, the evidence also showed that McClellan was in constructive possession of numerous precursors.

718 So.2d 1107,1111 (¶13) (Miss. 1998). The presumption is rebuttable, and McClellan attempts to rebut the presumption simply by noting that he was not the sole occupant of his vehicle and by claiming that there was no proof that he had access or control to any of McGee's belongings. Appellant's Brief at 15.

First, the mere fact that the owner of a vehicle has a passenger in his vehicle is not enough on its own to rebut the presumption that the owner is in constructive possession of contraband found his vehicle. Barker v. State, 826 So.2d 103, 106 (¶13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Second, the following cases show that McClellan's attempt to rebut the presumption was thwarted by his confession in which he admitted that he was going to use the precursors to make meth and that McGee merely "was helping me get some of the items needed." Ex. 12. In Ginn v. State, Ginn was riding in the passenger seat of a car registered to her grandfather, while Ginn's friend, Hill, was driving the vehicle. 860 So.2d 675 (Miss. 2003). After an investigatory stop, precursors were found in the vehicle. *Id.* at 679 (¶4). This Court found that Ginn's attempt to rebut the presumption that she was in constructive possession of the precursors found in the vehicle over which she exercised dominion and control failed because of a statement she gave to authorities admitting, "I also believe that on other occurrences pills that we (Ginn and Hill) purchased were for Kris Ray." Id. at 686 (¶33). Also in Stingley v. State, marijuana was found in a duffel bag in the trunk of a vehicle driven by Stingley. 966 So.2d 1269,1271 (¶3) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Both Stingley and his passenger were arrested for possession of marijuana with intent to sell. Id. The searched vehicle actually belonged to Stingley's cousin. At trial, Stingley testified that during his trip, a valet attendant had access to his car. He also claimed that only his passenger had opened the trunk of the car during their travels. The court of appeals found that the appellant's incriminating statement made to officers after the search which expressed his knowledge of contraband in the trunk and his intent to use the contraband was sufficient to support a finding that Stingley was intentionally and consciously in constructive possession of the marijuana. *Id.* at 1273 (¶14).

Finally, Mississippi recognizes the concept of joint constructive possession. *Barker*, 826 So. 2d at 106 (¶9); *Wall*, 718 So.2d at 1111 (¶13). It is therefore of little consequence that some

of the contraband was found in luggage which may have belonged to McGee. The evidence showed that McClellan and McGee purchased pseudoephedrine from four pharmacies together in a single day, and McClellan admitted that they were acting together to obtain precursors so that he could cook meth.

McClellan's convictions are entirely supported by the evidence. At the very least, the jury could have found that McClellan was guilty as principle for aiding and assisting McGee in the purchase of two or more precursors and more than 250 dosage units of pseudoephedrine with the intent to manufacture meth. A more reasonable view of the evidence, however, shows that McClellan was in fact in constructive possessions of the contraband found both in the passenger compartment and trunk of his vehicle. Any concern that some of the contraband was found in a suitcase with women's clothing is alleviated by the theory of joint constructive possession. McClellan simply cannot rebut the presumption that he was in constructive possession of the contraband in light of his lawfully obtained confession.

III.

McClellan claims that the trial court erred in its Peterson analysis by finding that his prior conviction for burglary could be used as impeachment evidence because the evidence was more prejudicial than probative.

First, and most obvious, the trial court did not allow impeachment evidence, as McClellan chose to not testify. McClellan claims that the trial court's ruling resulted in McClellan not being able to put on a defense. When the state of the defendant property in the commence of the contract of the

Le dechuc that the g

opularitationi i imperiferation minimali entre france a minimali pri i in manufactura en profesional de minimale.

584 So.2d 393, 395 (Miss. 1991) (citing *Saucier v. State*, 562 So.2d 1238, 1245 (Miss. 1990)). See also *Jackson v. State*, 910 So.2d 658, 670-71 (¶¶41-43) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); *Seals v. State*, 740 So.2d 340, 341 (¶¶4-5) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). The reason for the procedural bar has been explained by this honorable Court as follows.

Read more into the cars must

If such a defendant has in his distant past a conviction of a serious felony, as here, he may well be faced with a Hobson's choice in deciding whether to testify. On the other hand, if a defendant in fact has nothing of substance to say in his own defense, we are hardly likely to give the time of day to his suggestion that his right of allocution was chilled by the foreknowledge that the prosecution would present his prior conviction.

Heidel, 584 So. 2d at 395 (quoting Saucier v. State, 562 So.2d 1238, 1245 (Miss.1990)). Because McClellan failed to proffer his testimony, he is procedurally barred from arguing that the trial court's ruling which would have allowed the State to impeach him with a prior burglary conviction prevented him from putting on a defense.

IV.

McClellan correctly notes that two independent crimes merge into one when the greater crime includes by necessity all the elements of the lesser crime. *McDonald v. State*, 921 So.2d 353, 356 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). McClellan's claim that he could not be convicted for both possession of two or more precursors and possession of more than 250 dosage units of pseudoephedrine because the two offense merge into one is contrary to the very explanation of merger which McClellan offers in his brief.

Mississippi Code Annotated §41-29-313(1)(a)(I) makes it unlawful for any person to knowingly or intentionally possess two or more precursors with the intent to manufacture

defense counsel's shelps to the injust, this word of mile long is not record by the expellent

methamphetamine. Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-313(1)(a)(I). Among the precursors listed in the statute is pseudoephedrine. Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-313(b)(iv). Missing it is will be a statute in the pseudoephedrine will be a statute in the pseudoephedrine will be a statute in the pseudoephedrine. The two crimes simply cannot merge because neither offense is a lesser offense of the other.

An example of two offenses merging into one is "if a person violently strikes another with a deadly weapon, causing the victim's death, the culprit cannot be charged separately with homicide and with assault." *Smith v. State*, 818 So.2d 383, 386 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Faraga v. State*, 514 So.2d 295, 311 (Miss. 1987)). This is true because the single act of striking another resulted in two offenses, and the greater crime of homicide includes by necessity all the elements of the lesser crime of assault.

McClellan's reliance on *Wolf v. State*, 281 So. 2d 445 (Miss. 1973) is misplaced. In *Wolf*, the appellant was convicted of both possession and production of marijuana. *Id.* The problem in *Wolf* was that both offenses stemmed from a single act of Wolfe growing more than 1000 marijuana plants. In the present case, a conviction of Count I possession of two or more precursors was not dependent on McClellan's possession of 250 dosage units of pseudoephedrine. Instead, the evidence presented to establish a conviction of Count I possession of two or more precursors was that McClellan possessed lithium, ether, and isopropyl alcohol with the intent to manufacture methamphetamine.

Same gas at hot per equipote has quilty of mindetine duribul dismissippis Contex Amaetatack Adus 20

940 (49 (a) (1) 4 and 3 per 2 and 4 (2) (a) (b) significant appring a batterior and per instantiant by the same and a surface and a surface

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